IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national association,

Appellant,

v.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 77010

Electronically Filed Apr 12 2019 08:19 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable JIM CROCKETT, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-13-692304-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Abran E. Vigil
Nevada Bar No. 7548
Holly Ann Priest
Nevada Bar No. 13226
BALLARD SPAHR LLP
1980 Festival Plaza Drive, Suite 900
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135
(702) 471-7000
tasca@ballardspahr.com
priesth@ballardspahr.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1) because this is an appeal from a final judgment. The operative complaint filed by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("Chase") names SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC ("SFR") as a defendant. Appellant's Appendix, Volume 1 at 001-007 ("1 AA 001-007"). SFR's counterclaim originally named Chase, Robert M. Hawkins, and Christine V. Hawkins as counter-defendants. 1 AA 024-034. SFR later stipulated to dismiss Mr. and Mrs. Hawkins. The district court entered summary judgment for SFR on the claims between SFR and Chase. 4 AA 625-630. Notice of entry of the summary judgment order was served on August 16, 2018. 4 AA 631-639. Chase filed a timely notice of appeal on September 17, 2018. 4 AA 640-642.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Nevada Supreme Court because it raises a question of statewide public importance—namely, the applicable statute of limitations for a quiet title claim brought by the servicer of a loan owned by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac") or the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae") after an HOA foreclosure sale. *See* NRAP 17(a)(12).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the district court err by holding that Chase's argument under 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3) (the "Federal Foreclosure Bar"), a provision of the Housing and Economic Recovery Act ("HERA"), was "untimely" under 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(12)?
 - a. Does the date when Chase moved for leave to amend its complaint, thereby putting SFR and the district court on notice it would assert the Federal Foreclosure Bar, rather the date the district court allowed the amended complaint to be formally filed, drive the limitations analysis?
 - b. Did Chase's assertion of the Federal Foreclosure Bar constitute a new claim to which a statute of limitations applies rather than a theory supporting Chase's existing quiet-title claim?
 - c. Did Chase's amended complaint relate back to the original complaint?
 - d. Did the district court apply the correct limitations provision, and if not, was the amended complaint timely under the applicable provision?
- 2. Did the district court err to the extent it held that SFR's purported bona fide purchaser status overrode the effect of the Federal Foreclosure Bar?
 - a. Does SFR qualify as a bona fide purchaser under Nevada law?
 - b. If Nevada's bona fide purchaser doctrine would negate the Federal Foreclosure Bar's effect, would it be preempted?

- 3. To the extent that SFR's counter-motion to strike under N.R.C.P. 37(c)(1) was material to the parties' motions for summary judgment, did the district court err by granting the counter-motion?
 - a. Did the evidence that was not subject to SFR's counter-motion independently show that Freddie Mac owned the subject loan and that Chase was servicing the loan at the time of the subject foreclosure sale?
 - b. If not, did the district court err by striking the relevant documents without considering whether the alleged non-disclosure was harmless and without applying the governing legal standard for case-dispositive discovery sanctions?
- 4. Is Chase entitled to summary judgment in its favor?

INTRODUCTION

This case involves circumstances familiar to the Court from dozens of other appeals in similar cases. Appellee SFR purchased property at a homeowners' association foreclosure sale (the "Sale"). Appellant Chase submitted evidence showing that Freddie Mac owned a Deed of Trust encumbering the property at that time, and argued that the Federal Foreclosure Bar therefore preempted state law that might otherwise have allowed the foreclosure sale to extinguish the Deed of Trust.

The district court "adopt[ed] the arguments and reasoning in Chase's opposition to SFR's Motion for Summary Judgment...where Chase asserted Freddie Mac's ownership of the note at the time of the [HOA] foreclosure sale" and noted that Freddie Mac's conservator, the Federal Housing Finance Agency ("FHFA"), did not consent to the extinguishment of Freddie Mac's Deed of Trust. 3 AA 536-542; 4 AA 627 ¶ 10. But instead of holding that the Federal Foreclosure Bar protected Freddie Mac's property interest, the district court awarded summary judgment to SFR, ruling that Chase's assertion of the Federal Foreclosure Bar was time-barred. 4 AA 628-629 ¶¶ B-E.

The district court's statute-of-limitations analysis is incorrect and should be reversed.

First, the simplest and narrowest ground for reversal is that the district court erred in concluding that Chase "did not raise the HERA claim" within three years—

the interval the district court incorrectly applied as the limitations period. The Sale took place on March 1, 2013, and Chase moved for leave to file its amended complaint (expressly referencing the Federal Foreclosure Bar and attaching the proposed amended complaint as an exhibit) on February 2, 2016—nearly a month *before* the three-year interval closed.

Second, the district court erred in undertaking a limitations analysis at all in relation to Chase's assertion of Federal Foreclosure Bar. Chase properly and timely pleaded a claim for quiet-title, for which the Federal Foreclosure Bar is a supporting legal theory. Statutes of limitation apply to claims, not theories, and a plaintiff is not required to plead the legal theories upon which it bases its claims.

Third, the district court erred in failing to relate the amended complaint back to Chase's initial pleading. Even if Chase's assertion of the Federal Foreclosure Bar constituted a free-standing claim, relation back would apply because the amended complaint asserts claims arising out of the same transaction or occurrence—the Sale—Chase initially pleaded.

Fourth, the district court applied the wrong limitations period. If asserting the Federal Foreclosure Bar amounts to a free-standing claim, HERA's six-year limitations period for claims not sounding in tort governs, both under the plain language of the statute and as a matter of federal policy. But even if HERA's tort-claim limitations provision applied, Chase's claim would still be timely—that

provision specifies *the longer of* three years or the applicable state law period, which is at least four years here.

The district court's decision includes a cursory statement arguably suggesting that SFR was protected by Nevada's bona fide purchaser doctrine. That is not correct. SFR does not qualify as a bona fide purchaser, but even if it did, the Federal Foreclosure Bar would preempt any state-law protection that would otherwise result.

The district court also granted SFR's motion to strike a portion of Chase's evidence because it was not disclosed in discovery. 4 AA 629 ¶¶ G-H. Even without the stricken evidence, the record supports an award of summary judgment in favor of Chase. To the extent the Court believes the stricken evidence is necessary, any late disclosure was harmless and could not support a case-dispositive sanction.

As the district court found, Freddie Mac owned the Deed of Trust and FHFA did not consent to release Freddie Mac's interest. The Federal Foreclosure Bar thus preserved Freddie Mac's deed of trust, notwithstanding the Sale. This Court should reverse the district court's decision and enter judgment for Chase.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Chase challenges the district court's order in favor of SFR's claims for quiet title and declaratory relief arising out of SFR's purchase of the subject property at the Sale. At the time of the Sale, Freddie Mac owned a deed of trust encumbering the property and its associated promissory note, and Chase served as the beneficiary of record of the deed of trust as Freddie Mac's contractually authorized servicer. Chase filed this lawsuit seeking a declaration that Freddie Mac's deed of trust survived the Sale. SFR contends that the Sale extinguished Freddie Mac's deed of trust.

After a hearing on the parties' motions for summary judgment, the district court adopted Chase's arguments that Freddie Mac owned the deed of trust at the time of the Sale and that FHFA did not consent to the extinguishment of Freddie Mac's property interest. However, the district court concluded that Chase's "HERA claim" was subject to a three-year limitations period under 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(12) because it amounted to a "tort action." The court reasoned that because Chase raised its "HERA claim" in its amended complaint—filed more than three years after the Sale—and the amended complaint did not relate back, Chase's claim was time-barred. Accordingly, the district court granted SFR's motion for summary judgment and denied Chase's motion for summary judgment. The district court also granted SFR's counter-motion to strike Freddie Mac's declaration and certain attached

documents that SFR argued were not disclosed in discovery, and briefly discussed Nevada's bona fide purchaser doctrine. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. The Secondary Mortgage Market

Congress created Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae (together the "Enterprises") to support a nationwide secondary mortgage market. *See City of Spokane v. Fannie Mae*, 775 F.3d 1113, 1114 (9th Cir. 2014). Freddie Mac's federal statutory charter authorizes it to purchase and deal only in secured "mortgages," not unsecured loans. *See* 12 U.S.C. §§ 1451(d), 1454; *see also Lightfoot v. Cendant Mortg. Corp.*, 137 S. Ct. 553, 557 (2017) (discussing Fannie Mae's role as purchaser of mortgages); *FHFA v. Nomura Holding Am., Inc.*, 873 F.3d 85, 105 (2d Cir. 2017) (same); *Perry Capital LLC v. Mnuchin*, 864 F.3d 591, 599-600 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (same). Freddie Mac has purchased millions of mortgages nationwide, including hundreds of thousands of mortgages in Nevada.

Although Freddie Mac owns a large number of mortgage loans through its purchases on the secondary market, it is not in the business of managing the mortgages themselves, such as handling day-to-day borrower communications. Instead, Freddie Mac contracts with servicers to act on its behalf; in that role, servicers often appear as record beneficiaries of deeds of trust. *See Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC*, 396 P.3d 754, 757-58 (Nev. 2017) (acknowledging servicers' role); *Cervantes v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.*, 656 F.3d 1034, 1039 (9th Cir. 2011) (describing servicers' role); Restatement § 5.4 (the

"Restatement") cmt. c (discussing common practice where investors in secondary mortgage market designate servicer to be assignee of mortgage). In such situations, the note owner remains a secured creditor with a property interest in the collateral even if the recorded deed of trust names only the loan servicer. *E.g.*, *CitiMortgage*, *Inc. v. TRP Fund VI, LLC*, No. 71318, 2019 WL 1245886, at *1 (Nev. Mar. 14, 2019) (unpublished disposition) ("[T]his Court has recognized that the record beneficiary need not be the actual owner of the loan."); *Berezovsky v. Moniz*, 869 F.3d 923, 932 (9th Cir. 2017).

HERA established FHFA as the Enterprises' regulator, authorized FHFA's Director to place the Enterprises into conservatorships in certain circumstances, and enumerated the powers, privileges, and exemptions FHFA possesses as Conservator. In September 2008—at the height of the financial crisis—FHFA's Director placed the Enterprises into conservatorships, where they remain today.

The Federal Foreclosure Bar—a broad statutory "exemption," captioned "Property protection," within HERA—mandates that when the Enterprises are under FHFA conservatorship, "[n]o property of the Agency shall be subject to...foreclosure...without the consent of the Agency..." 12 U.S.C. § 4617(j)(3). Another HERA provision mandates that upon the inception of conservatorship, FHFA (i.e., the "Agency") succeeds by operation of law to "all rights, titles, powers, and privileges" of the entity in conservatorship "with respect to [its] assets," *id*.

§ 4617(b)(2)(A), thereby rendering all of the Enterprises' assets "property of the Agency" for the duration of the conservatorship, *id.* § 4617(j)(3). These statutory provisions exist to protect the conservatorships and, ultimately, U.S. taxpayers.

NRS 116.3116(2) grants homeowners' associations a superpriority lien for up to nine months of unpaid HOA dues (six months when the property is encumbered by an Enterprise lien). The statute permits properly conducted foreclosure sales of superpriority HOA liens to extinguish all junior interests, including prior-recorded security interests. *SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank*, 334 P.3d 408, 419 (Nev. 2014).

II. Facts Specific to the Property

In June 2006, Robert M. Hawkins and Christine V. Hawkins executed a promissory note memorializing their commitment to repay a \$240,000 loan from GreenPoint Mortgage Funding, Inc. for the purchase of a property located at 3263 Morning Springs Drive in Henderson, Nevada (the "Property"). 3 AA 354. The note was secured by a deed of trust recorded against the Property on June 12, 2006 (the "Deed of Trust" and together with the corresponding note, the "Loan"). 3 AA 332. The Deed of Trust named Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ("MERS") as beneficiary of record solely as nominee for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns. *Id.* MERS, as nominee for Lender and Lender's successors

and assigns, recorded an assignment of its interest in the Deed of Trust to Chase in October 2009. 3 AA 516-517.

As evidenced by authenticated business records from both Freddie Mac and Chase, Freddie Mac purchased the Loan in September 2006 and has owned it ever since. 3 AA 320-330, 359-370, 508-514. The Sale at which SFR purchased the Property occurred on March 1, 2013. 3 AA 519. At the time of the Sale, Chase was the record beneficiary of the Deed of Trust in its capacity as Freddie Mac's servicer. 3 AA 320-330, 359-370, 508-514. Chase is the current record beneficiary of the Deed of Trust and continues to service the Loan for Freddie Mac.

At no time did FHFA consent to the extinguishment or foreclosure of Freddie Mac's property interest through the Sale. 3 AA 523 ("FHFA confirms that it has not consented, and will not consent in the future, to the foreclosure or other extinguishment of any Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac lien or other property interest in connection with HOA foreclosures of super-priority liens.").

III. Procedural History

On November 27, 2013, Chase filed a complaint seeking a declaration that the Deed of Trust survived the Sale. 1 AA 001-007. SFR filed a counterclaim asserting that the Sale extinguished the Deed of Trust. 1 AA 024-034. On February 2, 2016, Chase moved for leave to amend its complaint; the motion expressly referenced the Federal Foreclosure Bar and included as an exhibit the proposed amended complaint,

which directly invoked the Federal Foreclosure Bar as a theory supporting the previously pleaded quiet-title claim. 1 AA 049-068. The amended complaint referenced Freddie Mac's Single-Family Seller/Servicer Guide (the "Guide") and provided a link to an online version of the Guide. 1 AA 060-061 ¶ 13. The district court granted the motion as unopposed on March 8, 2016. 1 AA 069-070. Chase formally filed the amended complaint on March 9, 2016. 1 AA 071-081.

On April 21, 2016, SFR deposed Chase's N.R.C.P. 30(b)(6) representative, who repeatedly testified that Freddie Mac owned the Loan. 1 AA 094-101. On May 2, 2016, Chase served discovery responses stating that "the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation owns the [Deed of Trust] and the loan at issue." 1 AA 109 (Response to Request No. 4). Also on May 2, 2016, Chase supplemented its N.R.C.P. 16.1 disclosures to include Freddie Mac's corporate representative. 1 AA 122. The supplement also disclosed business records from Chase's internal recordkeeping system demonstrating that Freddie Mac owned the Loan and that Chase was Freddie Mac's servicer (the "Chase Records"). 1 AA 124 (Item No. 25).

¹ Due to an error, several pages of Chase's May 2, 2016 supplement were omitted. Chase re-served the full supplement on May 6, 2016. The version included in Chase's appendix is the latter version.

² Chase disclosed the Chase Records with the intention of producing copies after a protective order was entered. 1 AA 124, n.7. Chase ultimately produced copies on July 26, 2016 during summary judgment briefing. 2 AA 195-201. Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 16.1(a)(1)(A)(ii), Chase satisfied any disclosure obligation on May 2, 2016 when it identified the Chase Records by "category and location."

Further, the supplement included business records from Freddie Mac that independently showed that Freddie Mac owned the Loan and Chase serviced the Loan (the "Freddie Mac Records"). 1 AA 127-129. The Freddie Mac Records primarily consisted of screenshots from Freddie Mac's MIDAS recordkeeping system. 1 AA 127-128. Discovery closed on May 2, 2016. 1 AA 036. SFR did not subpoena Freddie Mac for documents or testimony at any point. On June 28, 2016, Chase and SFR agreed to a stipulation to extend the dispositive motion deadline. 1 AA 130-133. Under the heading of "Discovery that Remains to be Completed," the parties listed the item "Supplement initial disclosures." 1 AA 131.

In July 2016, both Chase and SFR moved for summary judgment. 1 AA 134-190. To demonstrate that Freddie Mac owned the Loan and that Chase serviced the Loan, Chase submitted the previously disclosed Chase Records. 2 AA 195-201. The Chase Records were authenticated by a declaration from Evan L. Grageda, a Chase employee (the "Grageda Declaration"). 2 AA 203-206. Chase also submitted the previously disclosed Freddie Mac Records. 2 AA 241-248. The Freddie Mac Records were authenticated by a declaration from Dean Meyer, Director of Loss Mitigation for Freddie Mac (the "Meyer Declaration"). 2 AA 235-240. The Meyer Declaration referred to the previously disclosed Guide, among other things, to explain the relationship between Freddie Mac and its servicers. 2 AA 236-239 ¶¶ 2, 5.d, 5.h, 5.i, 5.j. SFR made various arguments in response to Chase's evidence but

did not raise any objections under N.R.C.P. 37(c)(1). Nor did SFR argue that Chase's arguments under the Federal Foreclosure Bar were precluded by 12 U.S.C. § 4617(b)(12) or any other statute of limitations.

The district court ruled in SFR's favor, holding that Chase lacked standing to raise the Federal Foreclosure Bar. 2 AA 258-267. Chase then appealed to this Court. *See JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. v. SFR Invs. Pool 1, LLC*, No. 71337. Following this Court's decision in *Nationstar Mortgage*, the parties agreed to dismiss the appeal upon the district court's reconsideration of its order.

On remand, SFR again chose not to seek any discovery from Freddie Mac. When Chase moved to reopen discovery, 2 AA 268-274, SFR filed an opposition, 2 AA 275-286. Chase ultimately withdrew the motion. 2 AA 287-289. The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment on April 13, 2018. 2 AA 290-314, 3 AA 524-533. Chase submitted the same copies of the Chase Records it had used in 2016. 3 AA 319-325. Chase also resubmitted the Grageda Declaration from 2016. 3 AA 327-330. For purposes of its 2018 motion, Chase obtained reprinted copies of the Freddie Mac Records. Therefore, the Freddie Mac Records attached to Chase's 2018 motion show different retrieval dates than the copies of those records attached to Chase's 2016 motion. However, the 2018 copies are substantively identical to the 2016 copies. *Compare* 2 AA 241-248 *with* 3 AA 365-370, 507-508. Chase also submitted an updated but largely identical version of the Meyer Declaration. 3 AA

359-364. There were no relevant changes to the portions of the declaration discussing the Freddie Mac Records. In addition to the Freddie Mac Records, the 2018 Meyer Declaration included relevant sections of the Guide as exhibits. 3 AA 371-506. As noted above, Chase had disclosed the Guide and provided a link to the Guide in its amended complaint filed in 2016. Finally, the Meyer Declaration included a new document: a Mortgage Payment History Report. 3 AA 510-514. The document showed that Chase was reporting payment information for the Loan to Freddie Mac at the time of the Sale. *Id.* Thus, it served as another piece of evidence that Freddie Mac owned the Loan and Chase serviced the Loan at the time of the Sale. 3 AA 363-364 ¶ 5.k.

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