Case No. 77010

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

JP MORGAN CHASE BANK, National Association, a national association

Appellant,

VS.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jul 14 2019 02:43 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable JIM CROCKETT, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-13-692304-C

AMENDED RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JACQUELINE A. GILBERT, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10593 DIANA S. EBRON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 10580

CARYN R. SCHIFFMAN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 14610

KIM GILBERT EBRON 7625 Dean Martin Drive, Suite 110 Las Vegas, Nevada 89139

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

A plain reading of NRS 11.070 shows the statute has no application whatsoever to Chase. The District Court, therefore, did not err as a matter of law in rejecting a five-year statute of limitations as to Chase's HERA claim. This Court should affirm.

F. NRS 11.080 Does Not Provide a Five-Year Statute of Limitations for Chase.

1. NRS 11.080 is a standing statute.

NRS 11.080 sets the same condition precedent for actions for the "recovery of real property" or the "recovery of the possession thereof." Again, the statute does

not state the action must be filed within five years; instead, the statute states that "no action for the recovery of real property, or for the recovery of the possession thereof... shall be maintained, unless..." the party bringing the action was seized or possessed of the premises five years before commencing the action. The terms "maintained" and "unless" make it clear, that NRS 11.080 is a standing statute.

2. NRS 11.080 does not apply to the Bank.

NRS 11.080 states in relevant part

No action for the **recovery** of real property, or for the **recovery** of the possession thereof . . . shall be maintained, unless it appears that the plaintiff . . . **was seized or possessed of the premises in question**, within 5 years before the commencement.

NRS 11.080 (Emphasis added.)

Again, Chase, as a lienholder, sought a declaration that the deed of trust remained a valid lien on the property based on HERA. By way of this unpled claim, Chase does not seek "recovery" or "recovery of possession" of the property. *Bank of America, N.A. v. Country Garden Owners Association*, Case No. 2:17-cv-01850-APG-CWH, 2018 WL 4305761 (D. Nev. March 14, 2018) (finding NRS 11.070 does not apply to bank's claim); *Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC*, Case No. 2:17-cv-01757-JAD-VCF, 2018 WL 2292807 (D. Nev. May 18, 2018) (finding neither NRS 11.070 nor 11.080 apply to the bank's claim).

Even if Chase succeeded on its unpled claim, and SFR took subject to the deed of trust, Chase would still have to foreclose on the deed of trust to get possession of

the property. *Hamm*, 124 Nev. at 298, 183 P.3d at 902. Also, just like NRS 11.070, NRS 11.080 likewise requires that before a party can maintain an action to recover real property it must have been seized or possessed of the property. In the context of challenging an NRS 116 sale as a lienholder, Chase does not have standing to assert a claim because it cannot establish it was seized or possessed of the property.

NRS 11.080 has no application whatsoever to Chase. The District Court, therefore, did not err as a matter of law in rejecting a five-year statute of limitations as to Chase's unpled HERA claim. This Court should affirm.

3. The authorities cited by Chase fully support SFR's argument.

Chase bewilderingly cites to *Gray Eagle*,⁷⁶ *Weeping Hollow*,⁷⁷ *Raymer*⁷⁸ and *Scott*⁷⁹ to support its position its claim carries a 5-year statute of limitations pursuant to NRS 11.070/11.080. These cases in fact prove beyond any doubt that a five-year statute of limitations cannot apply to Chase's defense. Notably, nowhere in NRS Chapter 11 does the term "quiet title" even appear. There is good reason for this, as the applicable statute of limitation depends on the ownership interest of the party seeking to assert it. As discussed in more detail, *infra*, Chase's confusion—or

⁷⁶ Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2021 Gray Eagle Way v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 3, 388 P.3d 226 (Jan. 26, 2017) ("Gray Eagle").

⁷⁷ Weeping Hollow Ave., Trust v. Spencer, 831 F.3d 1110, 1114 (9th Cir. 2016).

⁷⁸ *Raymer v. U.S. Bank*, No. 16-A-739731-C, 2016 WL 10651933 (Nev. Dist. Ct. Dec. 28, 2016).

⁷⁹ Scott v. Mortg. Elec. Registration Sys., Inc., 605 F. App'x 598, 600, 2015 WL 657874 (9th Cir. 2015) (unpublished).

purposeful misrepresentation—ignores the fact that the limitations period depends on the precise ownership interest of the party seeking to assert quiet title, an interest which Chase simply does not have.

4. <u>Unlike the parties suing in the cases, Chase has neither title nor possessory interest</u>

Unlike Chase—which has neither title nor possessory interest—the parties suing in *Gray Eagle*, *Weeping Hollow*, *Raymer* and *Scott* actually had title or possessory interest in the property, and therefore there was "seisin" and the claimants seeking to quiet title were therefore "seized or possessed of the premises in question, within 5 years before the commencement thereof." *Gray Eagle* makes this distinction perfectly clear. The Appellant in *Gray Eagle* actually purchased two of the subject lots at a non-judicial Association foreclosure sale pursuant to NRS 116.3116, and had actual title to all three lots, entitling it to seek a true quiet title action. *Gray Eagle*, 388 P.3d at 228-229. Thus, unlike Chase here, which has neither title nor even possessory interest, the party in *Gray Eagle* seeking to quiet title was qualified to bring suit under the seisen statutes. *Gray Eagle*, 388 P.3d at 232 (emphasis added).

5. Neither Raymer nor Scott aid Chase's argument.

It is the same with the relevant parties in Raymer and Scott: the former

⁸⁰ See NRS 11.080 and NRS 11.070 cited herein.

homeowners with possessory interest were seeking to set aside the sale and get clear title. In Scott, the defendant was a bank with a mere lien interest as is the case here. Scott, 605 Fed.Appx. at 600. Nothing in that case supports that a bank has the standing to bring a claim that falls within the parameters of NRS 11.070 or NRS 11.080. Chase also cites to Weeping Hollow, which, citing NRS 11.070 correctly states "[u]nder Nevada law, **Spencer** could have brought claims challenging the HOA foreclosure within five years of the sale[.]" Weeping Hollow Tr. v. Spencer, 831 F.3d 1110, 1114 (9th Cir. 2016). Put simply, that case addressed only whether the current title holder, Weeping Hollow Trust, had properly named the prior title holder in its action to clear title, not how long the bank had to challenge the extinguishment of the deed of trust. In each of the cases relied on by Chase—Gray Eagle, Weeping Hollow, Raymer and Scott—it was the parties who had, or had recently had, a title or possessory interest who could take advantage of NRS 11.070 and NRS 11.080.

Chase's attempt to apply a five-year limitations period under NRS 11.070 and 11.080 fails. Here, Chase has no possessory or other rights to use, enter, or otherwise enjoy the Properties, until and unless it forecloses. Instead, Chase, at best, is a mere lienholder NRS 11.070 or 11.080 do not apply to its claims. Yet, in a last-ditch effort to convince this Court that the five-year statute of limitations is applicable, Bank mistakenly relies on *The Bank of New York Mellon v. Jentz*, Case No. 2:15-cv-1167-

RCJ-CWH, 2016 WL 4487841 (D. Nev. Aug. 24, 2016). But *Jentz* begins with the same mistaken premise that Chase asks this Court to apply—that "quiet title" is but one claim rather than a mere descriptor that requires a court to look at the nature of the claim rather than its name to determine the proper statute of limitations. Thus, *Jentz* provides no persuasive value when NRS 11.070 and 11.080 are interpreted as above.

At bottom, NRS 11.070 and 11.080 do not apply to mere lienholders. Further, 11.070 and .080 provide standing; the statute of limitations to bring the action can be much shorter.

G. <u>There Is No Four-Year Statute of Limitations Applicable to Chase's Claims and Chase Waived this Argument.</u>

Again, Chase waived all alternative statute of limitation arguments by not raising them below. It certainly did not raise an alternative four-year statute of limitations argument. As this Court has enforced time and again, "a point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Old Aztec Mine*, 97 Nev. at 52, 623 P.2d at 983. Here, Chase, in opposition to SFR's Second MSJ never asserted this argument in a manner for SFR to respond.⁸¹ 82 Accordingly, this Court should

⁸¹ See Chase's Opposition to SFRs Second MSJ at 3AA_534-547; see specifically, pp. 543 at Sec. II "Chase's Claims are Timely."

⁸² See Chase's Opening Brief ("AOB") at pg. 27 Sec. B.

not consider this argument that is not properly before this Court.

H. <u>HERA Bar's Chase's Claims Regardless of Whether the FHFA is a Party</u>

At the District Court, Chase argued that the HERA statute of limitations only applies if FHFA is a party. The District Court correctly rejected this argument.⁸³ In rejecting this argument, the District Court astutely noted that if this were the case, "it would encourage the FHFA to not be a party."⁸⁴ Chase has failed to properly explain why or how the District Court was in error.

The *only* reason Chase can even assert 4617(j)(3), is that this Court recognized that a contractually authorized servicer could assert the right, under a principal/agency relationship.⁸⁵ In other words, Chase does not have the right, it merely steps into the shoes of FHFA and asserts the right. In this case, Chase *never*⁸⁶ proved it is a contractually authorized servicer of Freddie Mac for the subject loan, and SFR does not concede this fact. But for purposes of this argument, even assuming Chase is the contractually authorized servicer, Chase does not step into only one shoe, it steps into *both* shoes. In that regard, if it can assert the right, it is

⁸³ 4AA_628 at ¶ C-D.

⁸⁴ Id. at ¶ D.

⁸⁵ See Nationstar, 396 P.3d 754.

⁸⁶ The District Court granted SFR's Counter-Motion to strike on the basis that Chase disclosed its "evidence" too late; *see* FFCL at 4AA_629; *see also* transcript at 4AA_615:8-24.

equally bound by the limitations that Congress placed on that right. Thus, Chase is bound by the statute of limitations set forth in 4617(b)(12) just as FHFA would be if it asserted the right.

II. CHASE FAILED TO PROVE § 4617(J)(3) APPLIES

A. <u>The District Court Properly Exercised its Discretion Granting SFR's</u> Counter-Motion to Strike.

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in granting SFR's countermotion to strike. A District Court abuses its discretion when it "bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law." *MB Am.*, *Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing*, 132 Nev. ____, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016). Following the rules and holding a party to the consequences from failing to comply cannot be an abuse of discretion. Otherwise, he rules have no purpose, and certainly no teeth.

Further, all of Chase's arguments ring hollow, when it *voluntarily withdrew* the one motion that might have cured its evidentiary deficiencies—a motion to reopen discovery. Chase sheds crocodile tears over something it had a chance to avoid and, instead, argues the District Court put decided to take the risk that the District Court would strike its untimely exhibits.

1. Chase waived case ending sanctions.

It is well-settled, "a point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered

on appeal. *Old Aztec Mine*, 97 Nev. at 52, 623 P.2d at 983. Yet again, Chase for the very first time asserts on this appeal, not in its opposition to SFR's counter-motion to strike, 87 not at the hearing before the District Court, not in **any** pleading before the District Court—but on appeal raises the following new arguments:

- 1) that the District Court in striking Freddie's late disclosed evidence;
- 2) that the District Court failed to consider the *Young* factors in issuing its findings, resulting in the District Court abusing its discretion, something it did not argue would be necessary when it opposed SFR's motion;⁸⁸
 - 3) that SFR failed to conduct a meet and confer;
 - 4) that the failure to disclose was harmless.

The Court did not strike the untimely evidence and new claim *sua sponte*. It did so after full briefing and a hearing, where Chase never complained of these failures.⁸⁹ In that briefing, Chase never raised, at the hearing or in its briefing, that by the District Court using its discretion to strike the exceedingly late disclosed evidence would result in effect, case ending sanctions. Nowhere in its opposition does Chase argue that the failure to disclose was harmless or case ending sanctions.⁹⁰

⁸⁷ The Bank's opposition to SFR's Counter-Motion regarding striking the undisclosed documents and witness, only argues that the Bank had "an on-going obligation to supplement its NRCP 16.1 disclosures." 3AA_576 lines 16-19.

⁸⁸ See Appellant's Answer Brief at pp. 48-56, citing Young v. Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 787 P.2d 777 (1990) ("Young").

⁸⁹ 4AA_600-624; *see also* transcript of hearing, 4AA_600-618.

⁹⁰ 4AA_592 at sec. V; see also transcript of hearing, 4AA_600-618

Rather, Chase argues that there is an ongoing obligation to supplement. While that is true, it is timely during discovery. Since these arguments were not raised below, this Court should not consider them.

2. Chase disingenuously over-expands SFR's counter-motion.

Chase blatantly misrepresents SFR's counter-motion to strike, and the District Court's order granting it. The *only* remedy SFR was seeking to obtain from the District Court was for it not to consider the late disclosed exhibits and witness, which the District Court properly exercised its discretion when granting. ^{91 92} It followed the Rules of Civil Procedure. This is entirely different from seeking case ending sanctions, which Chase is asserting occurred, which did NOT occur. SFR's Countermotion <u>did not</u> request that the District Court strike Chase's complaint, claims, or otherwise. Neither did SFR seek case ending sanctions, nor did the District Court's order strike Chase's Complaint. Further, SFR did not request that any timely disclosed documents be stricken.

SFR's counter-motion to strike was based on the premise that Chase failed to timely disclose exhibits, and its witness, which should have been in its mandatory

⁹¹ See SFR's Counter-motion to strike, 4AA_552-553; see also SFR's Reply in support, 4AA_595-599.

⁹² See District Court's Finding of Facts Conclusion of Law, 4AA_626-630; see also Transcript from hearing, 4AA_600-618; see specifically, 4AA_60314-17; 4AA_615:8-19.

initial disclosure.⁹³ Thus, due to the failure to disclose, SFR asked the District Court to not consider the evidence— which it properly did not consider. *See* NRCP 37(c)(1) ("the party is not allowed to use that information or witness **to supply evidence on a motion, at a hearing**, or at trial, unless the failure was substantially justified or is harmless.") (Emphasis added).

3. <u>ALL of Chase's supplemental disclosures were after the close of discovery.</u>

Here, all of Chase's supplemental disclosures were *late*. Chase's first supplemental disclosure was served on **May 6, 2016**, the second supplemental disclosure was served on **July 26, 2016**, and then shockingly, **707** days *after* discovery expired when the parties were back on remand, Chase served SFR with its third supplemental disclosure on **April 13, 2018**. 4 <u>All</u> these were each <u>well</u> past the **May 2, 2016** deadline, a deadline that was *never* extended. Chase chose not to disclose during the discovery period. And, Chase never made an argument to the District Court that its actions were substantially justified or harmless.

The failure to timely disclose was prejudicial to SFR, i.e. not harmless. SFR was unable to defend itself. SFR was deprived of the ability to notice a deposition of Freddie. SFR faced an uphill battel in conducting discovery. Chase should have

 94 *Id*.

⁹³ See SFR's Counter-motion to strike, 4AA_552-553; see also SFR's Reply in support, 4AA_595-599.

disclosed the witness and the exhibits in a mandatory initial disclosure. NRCP 16.1(a)(1)(B) and NRCP 26(b).

4. <u>Chase was dilatory, which should end any analysis: it never</u> attempted to re-open discovery.

This Court should not fall for Chase's crocodile tears that the failure to disclose was harmless; it was the opposite. Chase chose the route it took. In fact, Chase knew it had to reopen discovery to use the late disclosed documents in its prior supplements. Therefore it knew it needed to reopen to disclose the documents and witness it eventually put in its last supplement.

In fact, Chase actually filed a motion to reopen after remand. The then bemoans the fact that SFR opposed so it withdrew its motion. Then it did a third supplemental disclosure with the Meyers declaration and exhibits. This is inexcusable for a new claim which Chase had to have the evidence before making the claim, even then Chase did not disclose the evidence it claims it needed.

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